SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANGELA I. GESSA, by and through MIRIAM G. FALATEK, her Attorney-in-Fact,

Petitioner,

v. CASE NO.: SC09-768
DCA CASE NO. 2D07-1928
LTC: 05-7548

MANOR CARE OF FLORIDA, INC.; MANORCARE HEALTH SERVICES, INC.; MANORCARE OF AMERICA, INC.; MANOR CARE, INC.; BARBARA PARLATORE a/k/a BARBARA A. KOENING PARLATORE; and DAWN D. BRUNER a/k/a DAWN JONES DEBRUNNER (as to MANOR CARE OF CARROLLWOOD)

Respondents.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Susan B. Morrison, Esquire
Florida Bar No.: 394424
LAW OFFICES of
SUSAN B. MORRISON, P.A.
1200 W. Platt Street, Suite 100
Tampa, Florida 33606
Telephone (813) 902-9293
Facsimile (813) 902-9275
Attorneys for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This case presents an issue of statewide concern impacting a protected class of persons, namely, elderly, nursing home residents. The issues concern, first, whether it is for the courts in the first instance, or for the arbitrator, to decide the gateway issue of the enforceability of the arbitration agreement when the issue of whether the agreement is void as violative of the public policy of this state has been raised as an avoidance defense to the arbitration provision; and second, whether unenforceable arbitration provisions which defeat remedial remedies and violate public policy are severable or whether they go to the essence of the agreement to arbitrate thereby voiding the entire agreement.

The resolution of these issues by a panel of the Second District Court of

Appeal in the instant case is in express and direct conflict with the decisions of this

Court and the other districts on these points.

References to certain documents contained in the Record before this Court shall be followed by citations to the Index to the Record on Appeal as follows:

"(R. Vol. __, Tab ___, pp.___)."

Petitioner, Angela I. Gessa, by and through Miriam G. Falatek, shall be referred to throughout as "Ms. Gessa." Respondents shall collectively be referred to as "Manor Care." Manor Care of Carrollwood, the nursing facility owned and

operated by Manor Care and in which Ms. Gessa resided shall be referred to as the "Nursing Home."

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court accepted jurisdiction of this matter for discretionary review of the opinion of the Second District Court of Appeals in Case No. 2D07-1928 in Gessa v. Manor Care of Florida, Inc., et al, 4 So.3d 679 (Fla. 2DCA 2009), rehearing denied March 31, 2009 (R. Vol. III, pp.) (the "Gessa Opinion" or "Gessa"). The Florida Constitution grants this Court discretionary jurisdiction to review a district court decision that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court. Art. V, §3(b)(3), Fla. Const. (1980). Ms. Gessa seeks further review of the decision based on the Second District's express and direct conflict with the Fourth District's decisions in Alterra Healthcare Corporation v. Bryant, 937 So.2d 263 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006), and Lacey v. Healthcare and Retirement Corporation of America, 918 So.2d 333 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006); with the First District's opinion in Alterra v. Linton, 953 So.2d 574, 576 (Fla. 1st DCA 2007);and with the Fifth District's decision in SA-PG-Ocala, LLC v. Stokes, 935 So.2d 1242 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006), as well as with numerous other decisions cited throughout this brief.

Moreover, the Second District misapplied the decisional law of this Court and other districts. Misapplication of decisional law serves as the basis for conflict jurisdiction. *Aguilera v. Inservices, Inc.*, 905 So.2d 84, 87 (Fla. 2005) (misapplication of decisional law of Supreme Court is basis for conflict jurisdiction); *Spivey v. Battaglia*, 258 So.2d 815, 816 (Fla. 1972) (misapplication of decisional law of another district is basis for conflict jurisdiction).

STATEMENT OF THE STANDARD OF REVIEW

Findings of fact relating to the *Gessa* Panel's determination of the absence of procedural unconscionability are reviewed based upon the competent, substantial evidence standard. *Bay County v. Town of Cedar Grove*, 992 So.2d 164 (Fla. 2008). The *Gessa* Panel's conclusions of law are reviewed *de novo. Id.* The Court's interpretation of contracts, including the arbitration agreement and the limitation of liability provisions are reviewed *de novo. U.S. Fire Insur. Co. v. J.S.U.B., Inc.*, 979 So.2d 871 (Fla. 2007). Statutory interpretation is a question of law and is reviewed *de novo. Continental Cas. Co. v. Ryan Inc. Eastern*, 974 So.2d 368 (Fla. 2008).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

When Angela I. Gessa was first admitted to Manor Care of Carrollwood on March 18, 2004, (R. Vol. I, Tab 1, p.46, Tab 3, p. 64), she was presented with a stack of papers consecutively numbered pages 1 through 44. The "Admission

Agreement," including attachments, was found at pages 1 through 39, and contains Ms. Gessa's initials (signature) numerous times throughout. (R. Vol. I, Tab. 3, pp. 64-102). Following it were five (5) pages of text numbered pages 40 through 44, which were untitled and contained a prefatory statement which read, "THIS AGREEMENT CONTAINS A WAIVER OF STATUTORY RIGHTS. PLEASE READ CAREFULLY." (R. Vol. I, Tab 3, pp. 103-107). These five (5) pages included paragraphs A, B, and C.

Paragraph A, was entitled "ARBITRATION PROVISIONS" and included (i) an agreement to arbitrate all claims relating to her stay at the Nursing Home, and (ii) a provision limiting discovery. The arbitration provision also included a clause stating that "[t]he Limitation of Liability Provision below is incorporated by reference into this Arbitration Agreement." (emphasis added). (R. Vol. I, Tab 3, p. 106).

Paragraph B was entitled "LIMITATION OF LIABILITY PROVISIONS," and included provisions (i) limiting recovery of noneconomic damages to \$250,000, (ii) precluding recovery of prejudgment interest on unpaid nursing home charges, and (iii) precluding an award of punitive damages. (Vol. I, Tab 3, p. 106). Thereafter, Ms. Gessa executed a durable power of attorney naming her daughter, Miriam Falatek, her attorney-in-fact. (R. Vol. I, Tab 4, pp. 108-113).

While residing at Manor Care for less than a month, Ms. Gessa became severely dehydrated and malnourished and a pressure wound on her coccyx became infected and sepsis set in. (R. Vol. I, Tab 1, pp. 55-56). Accordingly, she was discharged from Manor Care and admitted to St. Joseph's Hospital. (R. Vol. I-Tab 6, p. 28). After receiving care at the hospital, Ms. Gessa was re-admitted to the Nursing Home on May 5, 2004. (R. Vol. I, Tab 6, p. 28). Ms. Falatek signed new admission papers as Ms. Gessa's attorney-in-fact. (R. Vol. I, Tab 5, pp. 114-157). The two sets of admission papers are substantively identical. The arbitration agreements do not include a severability clause, and both agreements incorporate by reference the limitations of liability provisions into the arbitration agreement. (R. Vol. I, Tab 3, pp. 104-40-44, A. 5, pp. 153-157).

Ms. Gessa filed a Complaint on August 23, 2005, against Manor Care seeking damages for negligence, residents' rights violations, and breach of fiduciary duty. (R. Vol. I, Tab 1). Manor Care responded by filing a Motion to Compel Arbitration on September 21, 2005. (R. Vol. I, Tab 2). Ms. Gessa filed a Memorandum of Law in Opposition to Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration on February 28, 2007. (R. Vol. I, Tab 7). Thereafter, a hearing was held on March 1, 2007 before the Honorable Ralph A. Stoddard. (R. Vol. II, Tab 8).

At the hearing, Ms. Gessa asserted that the arbitration agreement was unconscionable, as well as unenforceable as contrary to public policy. (R. Vol. II,

Tab 8, p. 257). Ms. Gessa further maintained that the limitation of liability provision went to the heart of the agreement and should not be severed. (R. Vol.II, Tab 8, p. 257). Additionally, Ms. Gessa argued that under existing case law the arbitration agreement's lack of a severability clause meant that the trial court should not blue pencil the agreement. (R. Vol. II, Tab 8, p. 257). Manor Care countered that the limitation of liability provision was separate and independent from the arbitration agreement and that any public policy issues implicated by the agreement should be addressed by the arbitrator. (R. Vol. II, Tab 8, pp. 262-267).

At the hearing, the trial court acknowledged that the limitation of liability provision might be contrary to public policy. (R. Vol.II, Tab 8, p. 284). The court stated that it was "comfortable that the Second [District] isn't contrary to the Fourth [District] about the cap and bar on punitive damages [being void as against public policy]." (R. Vol.II, Tab 8, p. 284). Nevertheless, the trial court compelled arbitration finding that the arbitration agreement was not procedurally unconscionable because "there was a three day right of rescission contained within the arbitration agreement." The court further found that the agreement was not substantively unconscionable "because offensive clauses can be severed, as they are not integral to the contract and are separate from the arbitration agreement." (R. Vol. II, Tab 9, para. 1).

Ms. Gessa filed a timely appeal to the Second District (R. Vol. I, pp. 1-5) asserting that the trial court erred and the order must be reversed because (i) the public policy voidness issue was a "gateway issue" which should have been decided by the court in the first instance, and not the arbitrator, (ii) the court should have ruled, consistently with all other district court precedent, that caps on non-economic damages and the preclusion of punitive damage claims under chapter 400, a remedial statute, violated public policy rendering such clauses void and unenforceable, and (iii) the offending clauses cannot be severed because they go to the heart of the arbitration agreement, and because the agreement contains no severability clause. (R. Vol. I, pp 19-41, Vol. III, pp. 363-383).

On January 30, 2009, the Second District rendered its opinion in *Gessa* affirming the trial court's order granting Manor Care's motion to compel arbitration.(R. Vol. III, pp. 401-406). The *Gessa* Panel noted that Ms. Gessa did not challenge the trial court's unconscionability ruling on appeal. The Panel stated that the trial court made a "factual finding" in determining that the limitation provision was not an integral part of the parties' agreement to settle claims by arbitration, and opined that "[t]his factual finding is supported by competent evidence." However, the Panel made no mention of what this evidence consisted of. (R. Vol. III, pp. 405-406). Thus, the Panel affirmed the trial court's compel order, concluding that "the trial court, having found the limitations provision here

to be severable, properly directed that the case proceed to arbitration." (R. Vol. III, p. 406). The Second District denied Ms. Gessa's motions for rehearing, rehearing *en banc*, and certification (R. Vol. III pp. 407-415, p. 424). Ms. Gessa timely noticed the matter for discretionary conflicts review by this Court, and this Court subsequently accepted jurisdiction.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court intimated at the hearing that the limitation of liability provisions *might* be unenforceable as contrary to public policy, but it failed to rule on the issue, instead deferring the matter to the arbitrator to decide. The court erred in failing to resolve this gateway arbitrability issue as it was bound and authorized to do under the first prong of the arbitration enforceability test established by this Court some ten (10) years ago, cited in at least 175 reported appellate decisions, and unfailingly applied by Florida courts in hundreds, if not thousands, of cases throughout the state. Further, in the absence of any prior binding precedent from the Second District on this point at the time of the hearing and the trial court's subsequent order, the trial court erred in disregarding principles of stare decisis by failing to follow binding legal precedent from the other district courts which uniformly hold that it is for the court, and not the arbitrator, to decide whether a contract provision is void as violative of the public policy of this state.

Despite that Ms. Gessa raised the public policy voidness issue numerous times in the trial court and in her appeal (the issue was raised in her memorandum of law in opposition to the motion to compel arbitration; the point was argued at the hearing, and the point was argued at length in both her Initial and Reply Briefs to the Second District), the Gessa Panel failed to explicitly rule on the issue. Instead, the Panel incorrectly noted in a footnote that resolution of this complicated issue "is not before us here." Gessa, (R. Vol. III, p. 406). While noting the existence of conflicting authorities from the other districts in the opinion, the Panel failed to acknowledge the express conflicts or to certify the matter for resolution by this Court. The Panel's affirmance of the trial court's order, which clearly deferred resolution of the public policy issue to the arbitrator, itself creates the conflict despite the *dicta* in the footnote. In any event, once this Court accepted the case for discretionary review, it is authorized to examine every issue properly preserved below.

Since *Gessa*, the Second District has issued several other decisions uniformly opining that the arbitrators have the authority to determine whether offending limitations of remedy provisions are void as against public policy. One of these cases has likewise been accepted by this Court for discretionary review. This Court must resolve the conflict between the Second District and all other districts on this issue of great importance to Florida's most fragile citizens, the

residents of the state's nursing homes and assisted living facilities ("ALFs"), who are currently experiencing disparate application of their statutory resident's rights depending solely upon where they live within the state.

The trial court, and thereafter the Second District, compounded their error by ruling that the offending clauses could be severed in the event that the arbitrator found them unenforceable. The agreement lacked a severability clause and there was no evidence of the parties' intent to enforce the remainder of the agreement in the event that a provision was found to be invalid. Rather, the intent of the parties, as determined from the plain and unambiguous language of the arbitration agreement itself, was that *the limitations of remedies provisions were* to be expressly incorporated by reference into the arbitration agreement, thereby ensuring that the limitations would be treated as an integral part of the agreement to arbitrate. In fact, the interrelatedness of the provisions and the fact that the offending provisions go to the essence of the agreement to arbitrate means that the contract is indivisible and should preclude a court from blue penciling the agreement. Gessa is in express and direct conflict with decisions from this Court and from the other districts on the issue of whether these provisions are integral, causing the entire arbitration provision to be void, or whether the offensive provisions are severable. Accordingly, this Court should resolve the conflict by disapproving Gessa.

ARGUMENT

I. THE PUBLIC POLICY VOIDNESS ISSUE IS A GATEWAY ISSUE OF ARBITRABILITY, WHICH DECISION MUST BE MADE BY THE COURT AND NOT THE ARBITRATOR.

It is abundantly clear from numerous cases from all districts other than the Second District, that when the issue is raised that a contract provision is violative of public policy and therefore void and unenforceable, it falls within the first prong of the test for arbitration established by this Court over ten (10) years ago in Seifert v. U.S. Home Corporation, 750 So.2d 633 (Fla. 1999), to wit, whether a valid agreement to arbitrate exists, and that it is therefore a gateway issue. Florida courts, other than the Second District, have held that the trial court rather than the arbitrator must consider public policy when it is raised as a contract avoidance defense in a nursing home or ALF case.

In *Seifert*, this Court established that "[t]here are three elements for courts to consider in ruling on a motion to compel arbitration of a given dispute: (1) whether a valid written agreement to arbitrate exists; (2) whether an arbitrable issue exists; and (3) whether the right to arbitration has been waived." *Id.* At 636. The issue of whether the limitations in the instant agreement are void as against public policy falls under the first prong of the *Seifert* test. *Seifert* mandates that the Court, in the first instance, must determine this issue in order to satisfy the Court's duty of determining "whether a valid written agreement to arbitrate exists." *Id.*

Yet, rather than resolve the public policy issue under the first prong of *Seifert*, as did the Courts in decisions from the other districts, the Gessa Panel instead took a 'pass' and deferred the matter to the arbitrator to decide. In so doing, the Gessa Panel disregarded and impermissibly delegated its duty under the first prong of Seifert. Despite that Ms. Gessa raised the public policy voidness issue numerous times in the trial court and in her appeal (the issue was raised in her memorandum of law in opposition to the motion to compel arbitration; the point was argued at the hearing, and the point was argued at length in both her Initial and Reply Briefs to the Second District), the Gessa Panel failed to explicitly rule on the issue. Instead, the Panel incorrectly noted in a footnote that resolution of this complicated issue "is not before us here." Gessa, (R. Vol. III, p. 406). While noting the existence of conflicting authorities from the other districts in the opinion, the Panel failed to acknowledge the express conflicts or to certify the matter for resolution by this Court. The Panel's affirmance of the trial court's order, which clearly deferred resolution of the public policy issue to the arbitrator, itself creates the conflict despite the *dicta* in the footnote. In any event, once this Court accepted the case for discretionary review, it is authorized to examine every issue properly preserved below.

In *Alterra Healthcare Corp. v. Linton*, 953 So.2d 574, 578 (Fla. 1st DCA 2007), the appellee attempted to make the same argument that Manor Care made

below that the arbitrator, in the first instance, should decide the issue of public policy. *Linton*, 953 So.2d at 576. The First District rejected the argument, and found that the trial court not only had the authority, but in fact had "a duty to determine the validity of the arbitration clause in light of its express limitations of liability." *Id.* The First District found that "Florida courts have expressly held that arbitration agreements eliminating punitive damages and capping noneconomic damages defeat the remedial purpose of the Nursing Home Residents Act and are therefore void as against public policy." *Id.*

We reject the defendants's contention that the trial court lacked authority on a motion to compel arbitration to determine the validity of the arbitration clause. The trial court ruled that the exclusion of punitive damages and limit on non-economic damages were void as contrary to public policy, on the basis that chapter 400 is a remedial statute. In so doing, the court did not go beyond the three elements it had authority to consider in ruling on a motion to compel arbitration. (footnote omitted). See Seifert v. U.S. Home Corp., 750 So.2d 633, 636 (Fla.1999). Rather, its conclusion that the damages limitations were void as against public policy was a determination of the validity of the arbitration agreement under step one of the Seifert analysis. (emphasis added).

Id at 576-577; accord Bryant; SA-PG Partnerss.

The arbitrability of statutory claims rests on the assumption that the arbitration clause permits relief equivalent to that available via the courts. An arbitration clause is thus unenforceable if its provisions deprive the plaintiff of the ability to obtain meaningful relief for alleged statutory violations

Id. at 578.

Although the other district courts which have found such limitations of the remedies available under chapter 400 violative of public policy had not expressly stated in their opinions that the Courts were discharging their duties under the *Seifert* arbitrability test, each such opinion expressly held that the provisions were void and unenforceable, matters each Court had the authority and duty to resolve and discharge under the first prong of *Seifert*. The Second District in *Gessa*, and in at least three subsequent opinions issued thereafter, improperly delegated to the arbitrator its duty and authority under *Seifert* to determine the enforceability of arbitration agreements under circumstances where the Court acknowledged that the remedy limitations at issue here *might* be violative of public policy.

A. The Nursing Home Resident's Rights Act Is a Remedial Statute Intended to Protect the Rights of Florida's Most Vulnerable Citizens.

The provisions of the agreement which limit noneconomic damages and preclude the recovery of punitive damages, which were expressly incorporated into the arbitration agreement, (R. Vol. 1, Tab 5, p. 157), violate public policy because they eviscerates the rights provided under a remedial statute. This Court and the Third and Fourth Districts have acknowledged that The Nursing Home Resident's Rights Act, found in chapter 400 of the Florida Statutes, is a remedial statute which was enacted by the Florida legislature to protect Florida's most

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