IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANGELA I. GESSA, by and through

MIRIAM G. FALATEK, her Attorney- In-Fact,	
Petitioner,	Case No.: SC09-768
v.	L.T. Case No. 2D07-1928
MANOR CARE OF FLORIDA, INC., et al.	
Respondents.	
PESPONDENTS'	A NSWED RDIFF

SYLVIA H. WALBOLT Florida Bar No. 33604 MATTHEW J. CONIGLIARO Florida Bar No. 63525 CARLTON FIELDS, P.A. P.O. Box 2861 St. Petersburg, FL 33731 Telephone: 727-821-7000 Facsimile: 727-830-3768

Counsel for Respondents

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

In the trial court and the district court of appeal, Manor Care maintained that the Federal Arbitration Act applies in this case because the parties' agreement evidences a transaction involving interstate commerce within the farthest reach of the Commerce Clause. Gessa's admission agreement expressly states that the facility participates in the federal government's Medicare and Medicaid programs, bringing the home within an extensive federal regulatory scheme. *See* 42 C.F.R. § 483.1 *et seq.* Also, Gessa and her daughter executed documents authorizing a third party to provide Gessa with supplies covered by Medicaid Part B. These circumstances connect the parties' agreement to a transaction involving interstate commerce.

Gessa has never disputed that her residency at the facility had a sufficient connection to interstate commerce to trigger application of the Federal Arbitration Act. She instead ignores the issue, just as she ignores the federal act and the cases applying that act to challenges such as the ones she brings in this case. The Federal Arbitration Act applies and fully supports the Second District's decision to compel arbitration in accordance with the parties' arbitration agreement.

B. BOTH FEDERAL LAW AND FLORIDA LAW LIMIT THE COURT'S INVOLVEMENT TO RESOLUTION OF GATEWAY ISSUES.

While the Federal Arbitration Act applies to this case, the result is the same under that act or the Florida Arbitration Code. The two acts are similar in all

material respects, including the operative language that governs the issue of what challenges to an arbitration agreement's enforcement should be heard by a court or an arbitrator.

Both federal and state arbitration law favor arbitration as a means of resolving disputes. This Court has recognized that the Federal Arbitration Act reflects a strong national public policy that favors enforcing arbitration agreements. *Global Travel Mktg., Inc. v. Shea*, 908 So. 2d 392, 396 (Fla. 2005). Likewise, the Florida act reflects a Florida public policy that "favors resolving disputes through arbitration when the parties have agreed to arbitrate." *Maguire v. King*, 917 So. 2d 263, 266 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005). These laws were adopted to combat a perceived hostility from the judiciary toward arbitration agreements. *See Allied-Bruce Terminix Cos., Inc. v. Dobson*, 513 U.S. 265, 272 (1995) ("We therefore proceed to the basic interpretive questions aware that we are interpreting an Act that seeks broadly to overcome judicial hostility to arbitration agreements"); *Pierce v. J.W. Charles-Bush Sec., Inc.*, 603 So. 2d 625, 627-28 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992).

Where a party seeks to enforce an arbitration agreement, courts are to decide "gateway matters, such as whether the parties have a valid arbitration agreement at all or whether a concededly binding arbitration clause applies to a certain type of controversy." *Green Tree Fin. Corp. v. Bazzle*, 539 U.S. 444, 452 (2003). Simply

put, the court's role is minimal. The court should resolve only gateway issues and, if an arbitrable issue exists, then arbitration should be compelled.

Florida law and federal law are the same on this point. In *Seifert v. U.S. Home Corp.*, 750 So. 2d 633 (Fla. 1999), this Court held that under both the federal and state arbitration laws, "there are three elements for courts to consider in ruling on a motion to compel arbitration of a given dispute: (1) whether a valid written agreement to arbitrate exists; (2) whether an arbitrable issue exists; and (3) whether the right to arbitration was waived." *Id.* at 636; *see also Raymond James Fin. Servs. v. Saldukas*, 896 So. 2d 707, 711 (Fla. 2005) (citing *Seifert* as setting forth the proper test under federal law and Florida law).

Thus, in determining whether an arbitration agreement requires a claim to be resolved by arbitration, Florida courts apply Florida and federal law in the same manner. This is entirely reasonable, since the critical language on this point from the Federal Arbitration Act is also found in the Florida Arbitration Code. *Compare* 9 U.S.C. § 4 ("The court shall hear the parties, and upon being satisfied that *the making* of the agreement for arbitration or the failure to comply therewith *is not in issue*, the court shall make an order directing the parties to proceed to arbitration in accordance with the terms of the agreement.") *with* § 682.03(1), Fla. Stat. ("If the court is satisfied that no substantial issue exists as to *the making* of the agreement or provision, it shall grant the application.") (emphasis added).

Indeed, *Seifert* adopted Florida's standard directly from the federal gateway analysis, and no Florida appellate decision has held that the federal and Florida gateway issue tests are different. They are not. Consequently, while federal law controls in this case, the result here is the same under Florida law and federal law. *E.g.*, *Auchter Co. v. Zagloul*, 949 So. 2d 1189, 1191 (Fla. 1st DCA 2007) ("[F]or purposes of this appeal, it is irrelevant which law applies because the analysis is the same in either case."). Gessa has never made any argument otherwise.

C. GESSA'S CHALLENGE TO THE AGREEMENT'S REMEDIAL LIMITATIONS IS NOT A GATEWAY ISSUE.

Gessa claims that her challenge to the validity of the Arbitration Agreement's remedial limitations is a challenge under *Seifert*'s first prong, which asks "whether a valid written agreement to arbitrate exists." Gessa contends that if the remedial limitations are invalid, they invalidate the entire Arbitration Agreement and thus no valid agreement to arbitrate exists. Gessa is incorrect for two independent reasons.

First and foremost, Gessa's challenge to the remedial limitations that could be applied in the arbitration is not one that attacks the "arbitration clause" itself and therefore does not come within *Seifert*'s first prong. As made clear by controlling United States Supreme Court decisions that define the gateway issues a court should address, the "arbitration clause" is the provision wherein the parties

mutually agreed to arbitrate claims. A challenge to an agreement's remedial limitations is not a challenge to the making of that agreement. This point is fully supported by case law specifically holding that remedial limitations challenges are not gateway issues for courts to resolve.

Second, even if the challenged provisions were invalid, their invalidation would not invalidate the parties' agreement because the challenged limitations are severable, as the trial court found. Thus, a valid agreement to arbitrate will remain in all events and arbitration should be compelled without reaching the merits of Gessa's challenge to other provisions of the agreement.

For each of these reasons, the Second District's decision to compel arbitration should be approved.

1. Gessa's Challenge Does Not Attack The Arbitration Clause And Thus Does Not Present A Gateway Issue.

The first prong of *Seifert* permits a court to examine whether a valid written agreement to arbitrate exists. Gessa argues this examination broadly encompasses a challenge to any provision within the parties' Arbitration Agreement, including her challenge to its remedial limitations. That expansive view of *Seifert*'s first prong, however, would contravene controlling federal law under the Federal Arbitration Act. The Court was previously led to apply that type of broad reading of *Seifert*'s first prong in *Cardegna v. Buckeye Check Cashing, Inc.*, 894 So. 2d 860 (Fla. 2005). The United States Supreme Court reversed that decision in

Buckeye Check Cashing, Inc. v. Cardegna, 546 U.S. 440 (2006), a controlling decision that Gessa wholly ignores.

In *Buckeye*, the parties entered a check-cashing agreement that included an agreement to arbitrate disputes. The plaintiff opposed the defendant's effort to compel arbitration by asserting that the agreement's interest rate was usurious, thereby rendering the parties' entire agreement, including its arbitration clause, void. This Court agreed and held that, as a matter of Florida public policy and contract law, the parties' entire agreement was void and no valid arbitration agreement ever came into existence. *Cardegna*, 894 So. 2d 860 (Fla. 2005).

The United States Supreme Court reversed. It relied upon its prior decision in *Prima Paint Corp. v. Flood & Conklin Manufacturing Co.*, 388 U.S. 395 (1967), where it held a party's claim that it was fraudulently induced to enter an agreement containing an arbitration provision should be resolved by the arbitrator:

[W]ith respect to a matter within the jurisdiction of the federal courts save for the existence of an arbitration clause, the federal court is instructed to order arbitration to proceed once it is satisfied that "the making of the agreement for arbitration or the failure to comply (with the arbitration agreement) is not in issue." Accordingly, if the claim is fraud in the inducement of the arbitration clause itself—an issue which goes to the "making" of the agreement to arbitrate—the federal court may proceed to adjudicate it.

388 U.S. at 403-04 (quoting 9 U.S.C. § 4) (footnotes omitted) (emphasis added).

Prima Paint established that the focus of whether the parties made an agreement to arbitrate belongs on the specific language where the parties agreed

they would arbitrate their claims:

In the present case no claim has been advanced by *Prima Paint* that F & C fraudulently induced it to enter into the agreement to arbitrate "(a)ny controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement, or the breach thereof."

388 U.S. at 406. Because the fraudulent inducement challenge raised in *Prima Paint* was not directed at the arbitration clause, the challenge was not to the making of the agreement to arbitrate and was thus an issue for the arbitrator. *Id*.

Applying principles laid down in *Prima Paint*, *Buckeye* held that the arbitration clause in the parties' agreement is independent from the remainder of the agreement, including the allegedly usurious interest provision. Rejecting this Court's decision that the arbitration clause was invalidated by the inclusion of the challenged interest provision, the Supreme Court explained: "[W]e cannot accept the Florida Supreme Court's conclusion that enforceability of the arbitration agreement should turn on 'Florida public policy and contract law" 546 U.S. at 446. Because there was no contention that the arbitration clause itself was contrary to public policy, the public policy challenge to the interest provision was an issue for the arbitrator, not the court. *Id*.

Buckeye gave two examples of challenges that the Supreme Court previously held are challenges to the arbitration clause and thus for a court to resolve:

(1) whether it is lawful to arbitrate the claim at issue, and (2) whether the specific arbitration clause itself, as opposed to the entire agreement, was fraudulently

induced. *Id.* at 444. *Buckeye* also gave three examples of challenges other courts have held are challenges to the arbitration clause and thus for a court to resolve: (1) whether the alleged obligor signed the contract, (2) whether the signor lacked capacity to bind the alleged principal, and (3) whether the signor lacked mental capacity to assent. *Id.* at 444 n.1.

In all of those examples, the challenge is to whether the parties in fact *made* an agreement to arbitrate a claim that can lawfully be arbitrated—*i.e.*, to the "arbitration clause" itself. None of them was a challenge, as here, to other terms in the agreement. None involved a mere challenge to terms that govern the remedies potentially available in the arbitration to a prevailing claimant.

Read together, as they must be, *Buckeye* and *Prima Paint* establish that a challenge to the "arbitration clause" is a challenge to whether the parties validly *made* an agreement they would arbitrate in the first place, and that challenge is for a court to resolve. In contrast, Gessa's challenge is not to the "arbitration clause" and whether the parties validly made an agreement they would arbitrate in the first place. She does not say that her claim cannot lawfully be arbitrated, that the agreement to arbitrate was fraudulently induced, that she never signed it, or that she lacked the capacity to sign it. As a result, her challenge is not for a court to resolve.

Simply put, the "arbitration clause," as that term was used in Prima Paint

and *Buckeye*, is the provision wherein the parties mutually assented to arbitrate certain disputes. Under *Prima Paint* and *Buckeye*, that clause is legally independent from the contract's other provisions, and arbitration should be compelled where that clause is not challenged. Challenges to portions of the agreement other than the arbitration clause itself are to be resolved by the arbitrator.

Following the U.S. Supreme Court's *Buckeye* decision, this Court adopted that analysis as the law of Florida. On remand, this Court expressly adopted the Fourth District's earlier *Buckeye* decision that this Court had previously quashed, *Buckeye Check Cashing, Inc. v. Cardegna*, 824 So. 2d 228 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002). That decision expressly relied upon and quoted extensively from *Prima Paint*, as well as *Bess v. Check Express*, 294 F.3d 1298 (11th Cir. 2002), and *Chastain v. Robinson-Humphrey Co.*, 957 F.2d 851 (11th Cir. 1992), to explain how to distinguish gateway validity issues to be decided by the court from other challenges to be decided by the arbitrator.

Specifically, this Court's adopted decision relied upon *Prima Paint*, *Bess* and *Chastain* to distinguish between (1) challenges to the *existence* of an agreement to arbitrate the claims at issue and (2) challenges to the *contents* of that agreement. *Buckeye*, 824 So. 2d at 230-32. Where a party challenges the contents of an agreement, but not the existence of mutual assent to arbitrate claims that may

lawfully be arbitrated, then the parties have validly agreed to arbitrate and the arbitrator should decide any issue as to the agreement's contents. *Id.* That legal analysis is the law of Florida and, under that analysis, the lower courts correctly compelled arbitration in this case.

Of special importance here, this analysis is fully consistent with a body of case law rooted in *Prima Paint* that specifically holds challenges to remedial limitations in arbitration agreements are *not* challenges to whether the parties made an agreement to arbitrate. For instance, in Hawkins v. Aid Ass'n for Lutherans, 338 F.3d 801, 807 (7th Cir. 2003), the Seventh Circuit held that, "[b]ecause the adequacy of arbitration remedies has nothing to do with whether the parties agreed to arbitrate or if the claims are within the scope of that agreement, these challenges must first be considered by the arbitrator." See also Faber v. Menard, Inc., 367 F.3d 1048, 1054 (8th Cir. 2004) ("We have established that, as a general matter, issues of remedy are for the arbitrator in the first instance."); Arkcom Digital Corp. v. Xerox Corp., 289 F.3d 536, 539 (8th Cir. 2002); Great Western Mtg. Corp. v. Peacock, 110 F.3d 222, 230 (3d Cir. 1997); Moore v. Ferrellgas, Inc., 533 F. Supp. 2d 740, 748 (W.D. Mich. 2008) ("[Q]uestions concerning remedy are outside the scope of review since the validity of the agreement to arbitrate is not affected.").

Thus, courts have squarely addressed challenges to an arbitration agreement's exclusion of punitive and other damages and held that their

enforceability is a matter for the arbitrator to resolve. E.g., Larry's United Super, Inc. v. Werries, 253 F.3d 1083, 1086 (8th Cir. 2001); see also Faust v. Command Ctr., Inc., 484 F. Supp. 2d 953, 955 (S.D. Iowa 2007) ("[T]he particular issue of whether a waiver of punitive damages violates public policy is, at least in the first instance, a matter for the arbitrator to decide."); Siebert v. Amateur Athletic Union of the U.S., Inc., 422 F. Supp. 2d 1033, 1043-44 (D. Minn. 2006); Defazio v. Expectec Corp., 2006 WL 162327 *3 (D.R.I. Jan. 20, 2006) ("Since the 'availability of punitive damages' is distinct from the issue of whether or not the parties have agreed to arbitrate, it 'is for the arbitrator to decide." (citation omitted)); Carolina Care Plan, Inc. v. United Healthcare Servs., Inc., 606 S.E. 2d 752, 759 (S.C. 2004) ("[W]e hold that the question of whether the clause preventing punitive damages violates public policy . . . is not yet ripe because an arbitrator has not ruled on the issue" and "any challenge that the clause violates public policy is premature").

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